1983

Blaine Barnard v. Ruth D. Barnard And Paul D. Barnard : Brief of Appellant

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action for specific performance wherein Plaintiff-Appellant sought enforcement of an oral contract between Plaintiff-Appellant as buyer and Defendant-Respondent, Ruth D. Barnard as seller of two acres of real estate located in Box Elder County, Utah.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

After non-jury trial on the merits, the trial court held that the contract was unenforceable, and ordered Defendant-Respondent, Ruth D. Barnard, to return the \$6,000 purchase price to Plaintiff-Appellant. The trial court also declared unenforceable a warranty deed from Defendant-Respondent, Ruth D. Barnard, to Defendant-Respondent, Paul D. Barnard, and quieted title to the property in favor of Defendant-Respondent, Ruth D. Barnard.

NATURE OF RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff-Appellant seeks reversal of the trial court's determination that the contract was unenforceable and remand with instructions to find the eastern boundary of the real estate to be conveyed and order specific performance of the contract.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

As of September 3, 1976, Defendant-Respondent, Ruth D. Barnard (hereinafter "Ruth") was the owner in fee simple absolute of the tract of land (hereinafter "total tract") more particularly described on APPENDIX A (R. 82). On September 3, 1976, Ruth executed a Warranty Deed to the total tract in favor of her son, Defendant-Respondent, Paul D. Barnard (hereinafter "Paul"), which deed was in the nature of a testamentary disposition and was not recorded until 1979 (R. 83, 85). On September 25, 1978, Ruth entered into a contract (hereinafter "the contract") with another son, Plaintiff-Appellant (hereinafter "Blaine") whereby Ruth was to convey two acres (hereinafter "the two acre parcel") of the total tract to Blaine, reserving a life estate in Ruth, in exchange for \$6,000 (R. 83, 84). On September 25, 1978 Blaine paid the \$6,000 purchase price to Ruth (R. 84). On April 5, 1979, Ruth gave Blaine a receipt for the \$6,000 (R. 19). Prior to April 16, 1979, Ruth threatened to sell the property, and Ruth and Blaine had a disagreement after which Ruth tendered \$6,170 to Blaine who refused to tender (R. 84, 19). On April 13, 1979, Ruth's Warranty Deed to Paul was recorded (R. 85).

The relevant configuration of land and ownership at the time of the contract is rough, as set forth in APPENDIX B (R. 83, See Respondents' Disposition, Appendix 1). The two acre parcel was to border on Blaine's property, the Allen property and the Church's north boundary (R. 84). The remaining boundaries, specifically the east boundary, was not indicated (R. 84). In 1981, Blaine had a surveyor prepare a legal description of two acres of land within the total tract, which is contained on APPENDIX C, without consulting Ruth (R. 85).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TWO ACRE PARCEL WAS SUFFICIENTLY DESCRIBED SO AS TO RENDER THE CONTRACT ENFORCEABLE

The trial court, in it's capacity of finder of fact, identified the tract of land out of which the two acre parcel was to have been "carved" and at least three of the boundaries of the parcel, but had specific difficulty in fixing the eastern boundary of the land to be conveyed. The question presented is whether such identification of the subject parcel as was made by the finder of fact was sufficient, as a matter of law and equity, to support a decree of specific performance.

Specific performance is an equitable remedy, and the reviewing court may therefore exercise a broad scope of review encompassing both questions of law and fact. Reed v. Alvey, 610 P.2d 1374, 1377 (Utah, 1980). In actions for specific performance, the terms of the contract must be certain so that

the Court can carry out the intent of the parties, but with regard to the certainty of descriptions of real estate,

" . . . reasonable certainty is all that is required and if the description of land is sufficiently certain to enable the land to be located and examined, it is sufficient to justify specific performance of the contract." 71 Am Jur, Specific Performance § 117 at 149.

This principle, as applied to descriptions of land, stems from the more comprehensive maxim "in equity that is certain which can be made certain." See Eliason v. Watts, 615 P.2d 427 (Utah, 1980).

In the present case, then, if the two acre parcel can be so identified as to be located and examined, then it is sufficiently certain to warrant the remedy of specific performance.

In Jacobson v. Cox, 202 P.2d 714 (Utah, 1949), this Court considered the question of the enforceability of a contract for the sale of land where the adequacy of the description was challenged. In holding that reference to "certain leased land up in the old field, now under fence above the Spring Branch Ditch" was sufficiently definite to render the contract enforceable, this Court explained:

"The only reasonable means by which a person can describe property located on a public domain, and which has never been surveyed, is by reference to natural monuments. The original parties to the contract could not have described the land by metes and bounds without going to the expense of running a survey." Jacobson v. Cox, 202 P.2d 714 at 721 (Utah, 1949).

In the present case, the two acres had not been surveyed, and the only way the property could be described was . . .

reference to which "corner" of the total tract the two acre parcel was located in. They apparently agreed upon the Northwest corner as the trial court's findings pointed out by finding boundaries of the two acres in the northwestern portion of Ruth's property.

This Court held that a contract for the sale of a small tract of land which was part of a larger tract was specifically enforceable in spite of the lack of a legal description for the smaller "carved out" tract in Stauffer v. Call, 589 P.2d 1219 (Utah, 1979). In Stauffer, the parties entered into a contract to sell and purchase forty acres of land, a description of which was supposed to have been attached to the contract, and additional ten acres on which two houses were located. The lower court received parol evidence but ruled that the contract was unenforceable. The Supreme Court reversed and remanded with instructions to "decide what was the legal description of the land included in the agreement to purchase." Stauffer, 589 P.2d 1221. The Supreme Court stated that the location of the ten acres was clear, that the location of a portion of the forty acres was clear (all land on south of freeway except 40 acres of fenced ground). Stauffer, 589 P.2d 1221. Apparently, the Court was not informed as to the amount of acreage to be conveyed over and above what had been "clearly" identified, but nonetheless instructed the lower court to decide on the legal description.

In the present case, as in Stauffer, the seller was to have "carved out" of a large tract of land, a smaller parcel

for the buyer. The general location of the smaller parcel within the tract was known to and understood by the parties, even though the details of the boundaries were not described by metes and bounds. The Stauffer holding went further in fixing the location of land in that a portion of the forty acres of land to be conveyed was not even generally fixed within the larger tract. In the present case, the location of the two acres was generally fixed at the northwest portion of Ruth's property. In fact, three boundaries were found by the Court in the present case.

The principles of Stauffer and Jacobson v. Cox, when applied to the present case and the closed examination of the facts in each case, dictate a reversal of the trial court's erroneous conclusion that the location of the tract to be conveyed was too indefinite.

"Applying these principles, a description of land to be conveyed, as 100 acres on the west end of the vendor's farm, bounded on the north and south by the property of certain persons named, the location of whose land is well known, is sufficient to sustain a decree for specific performance." 71 Am Jur 2d, Specific Performance, § 117 at 150.

The two acres was sufficiently identified so as to sustain a specific performance decree since the total acreage to be conveyed was specified, the tract out of which the acreage was to be "carved" was identified and the location of the property within the tract was generally fixed and specifically located as to three boundaries.

POINT IISPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF THE CONTRACT IS DICTATED UNDER
RULES OF EQUITY

Even if the identity of the land were uncertain or vague or ambiguous, the contract would be enforceable via specific performance. Ruth, by her words and actions, demonstrated her understanding that a two acre parcel in the northwest corner of her tract of land had been sold to Blaine, and Ruth should not be allowed to avoid the consequences of her manifested intent with regard to the contract on the basis of a claimed deficiency in the contract.

The general rule in this regard is well expressed in 28 Am Jur 2d, Estoppel and Waiver § 59 at 677:

"Estoppel is frequently based upon the acceptance and retention, by one having knowledge or notice of the facts, of benefits from a transaction. . . which he might have rejected or contested."

In cases such as the present one:

"The estoppel is also applied to prevent one who with a knowledge, accepts the proceeds of sale of his property. . . from disputing the validity of such sale or the title of the purchaser."

28 Am Jur 2d, Estoppel and Waiver § 59 at 679 (emphasis added).

In Jacobson v. Cox, 202 P.2d 714 (Utah, 1949), the Plaintiff (in position of vendor) asserted that the contract of sale was too ambiguous to be enforceable. The Court struck down the Plaintiff's contentions, and while admitting that the contract had "infirmities," ruled:

"We have a written instrument which is attacked because of uncertainties of ambiguities. We are of the opinion that Plaintiff, by his acts and conduct is estopped from taking advantage of these

deficiencies. To hold otherwise would permit the statute of frauds to be used by him as a shield to defeat what appears to be a just and equitable cause against him."

Jacobson v. Cox, 202 P.2d 714, 722.

In the present instance, the facts bear out a strong case for invocation of the equitable principle of estoppel against Ruth with regard to the claimed insufficiency of description of the two acres. Ruth agreed to sell two acres and identified at least the general location of the two acres within her larger tract. On the same day, she accepted \$6,000 cash in full payment. She did not inform Blaine at that time or thereafter that in 1976 she had executed and delivered to Paul a Warranty Deed to her entire tract of land (Statement of Facts, See also R. 17, 21). In April of 1979, Ruth gave Blaine a written receipt for the \$6,000 purchase price. Later that month, Ruth had a disagreement with Blaine, and on April 13, the Warranty Deed to Paul was finally recorded (Statement of Facts). Even after the suit had commenced, Ruth referred to contract as one she considered was binding on Blaine (R. 19). The course of Ruth's conduct and actions clearly estop her from claiming the description of the land to be too ambiguous so as to be enforceable. To hold otherwise would allow Ruth to keep the full purchase price until she felt it was convenient or profitable for her to return it, while in the meantime, leading Blaine to believe that he had a binding contract. If the sale had been for a fee simple interest, Blaine could have been

expected to enter into the property and possess it immediately after payment of the \$6,000. But since Ruth had sold only a remainder interest, Blaine understood that he was not to presently assume possession. Blaine's inability to assume possession facilitated Ruth's apparent objective to "play favorites" among her children by failing to execute a deed to Blaine. A reversal of the trial court's ruling is the only method by which Ruth can be prevented from profiting by her inequitable conduct with respect to Blaine. As stated in Stauffer v. Call, 589 P.2d 1219, 1221 (Utah, 1979):

"This Court takes judicial knowledge of the fact that land values in the area have increased greatly since the contract was made. By refusing to agree on the exact description of the land sold. . .the seller could hope for a mighty windfall by selling if at its enhanced value to others." (emphasis added)

Equity dictates that the contract be enforced against Ruth, who accepted the full purchase price for the land, and in favor of Blaine, who in good faith paid the price and believed he had a contract. There is no evidence on the record of any dispute regarding the location and extent of the land to be conveyed until Defendants filed their answer. See Eliason v. Watts, 615 P.2d 427, 429 (Utah, 1980). It is now asserted as a convenient device to deprive Blaine of the benefit of his bargain. Equity should not tolerate such an effort.