1983

Blaine Barnard v. Ruth D. Barnard And Paul D. Barnard : Brief of Respondent

NATURE OF THE CASE

Respondents agree with Appellant's statement of the nature of the case.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Respondents agree with Appellant's statement of the disposition in lower court.

NATURE OF RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondents request that the judgment of the lower court be affirmed in all its particulars.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondents generally agree with Appellant's Statement of Facts, however, feel that the following amplification and clarification is in order.

The contract referred to for the sale of two acres of Ruth's land to Blaine was an oral agreement wherein Ruth agreed to sell to Blaine two acres to be possessed by him "after the fall harvest after (her) death." (R. 33).

The two acres would have had to come out of Ruth's total land which was an irregularly shaped parcel containing approximately seven acres. (See Appendix I).

The oral agreement was lacking in the indications where the boundaries of the two acres would be, but that it was to border on Blaine's land, the Allen land and the Church land's north boundary. That there were no other indications where the remaining boundaries would be, specifically there was no indication where the east boundary would be located. (R. 84).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

UNLESS THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN THE DETERMINATION OF THE FACTS AND AMPLIFICATION OF THE LAW, THE TRIAL COURT'S JUDGMENT SHOULD NOT BE DISTURBED.

This Court's doctrine of review has been well established and the Court has repeatedly stated that "unless the

District Court abused its discretion in the determination of the facts and application of the law, the judgment of the District Court should not be disturbed." Reed v. Alvey, 610 P.2d 1374, 1377 (Utah, 1980).

Appellant has not shown where the District Court abused its discretion in the determination of the facts in this case. In fact a close examination of the configuration of the land involved would indicate that the trial court did all it could in attempting to establish the boundaries of the land which was allegedly sold.

Appendix I indicates where the difficulty comes in when establishing the exact boundaries of the land to be conveyed. The Court found that the two acres to be sold was generally located in the northwest corner of Ruth's seven acre parcel of land. The Court further found that the land was to border on Blaine's (Appellant's) land, the Allen land and the Church land's north boundary.

Simple mathematics would show that the difficulty comes when deciding where the agreement would have the balance of the two acre property run. As the examples in Appendix II and Appendix III show, the two acres could be determined to run contiguous to the Church land, in which case the two acre parcel would be shaped as indicated in Appendix II, or it could be determined as only going as far south as the Church land's

northern boundary, in which case the two acre parcel would be shaped as shown in Appendix III, which is approximately what Appellant's two acre legal description would show.

Clearly, the determination of the eastern boundary of the two acre parcel would determine the location of the southern boundary and the configuration of the land.

This Court has as recently as this year indicated that: "the trial court's findings are accorded a presumption of validity and correctness and this court will not disturb the findings if there is substantial support for them in the evidence." Young v. Moore, 663 P.2d 78 (Utah, 1983) citing Litho Sales, Inc. v. Cutrubs, 636 P.2d 487 (Utah, 1981).

In Young, supra, this Court also reiterated its position that this Court will not upset the trial court's findings if the evidence does not clearly preponderate against them.

The trial court here heard all of the evidence presented to it, observed the witnesses and examined the various exhibits introduced. Appellant fails to show what evidence the Court ignored or misinterpreted. He cannot show this because from the record before this Court there is no indication of it.

All that Appellant can claim is that there was an oral agreement for the sale of a future interest of a two acre piece of land which would be located in the northwest corner of sel-

ler's seven acre piece of land. The record is totally lacking in any preciseness of the boundaries of the two acre parcel and thus the trial court correctly applied the law to the facts it had before it.

POINT II

IN ORDER FOR SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF AN ORAL CONTRACT TO BE AVAILABLE, THE PLAINTIFF MUST ESTABLISH THE CONTRACT BY CLEAR, CONVINCING, AND DEFINITE EVIDENCE.

Specific performance is a doctrine of equity which essentially requires a showing of the terms of the contract with sufficient preciseness so that the Court is certain of the intent of the parties.

This Court has set forth the requirements of what has to be proven before the remedy of specific performance will be granted. Thus in Reed v. Alvey, 610 P.2d 1374 (Utah, 1980), this Court in discussing specific performance in a case involving a written contract said: "Before specific performance will be employed by the courts to enforce a contract the terms of the agreement must be reasonably certain so the parties know what is required of them, and definite enough that the courts can delineate the intent of the contracting parties." 610 P.2d at 1377.

The Court then cited from 71 Am. Jur. 2d, Specific Performance, Sec. 33, p. 53, as follows:

For specific performance is demanded that degree of certainty and definiteness which leaves in the mind of the court no reasonable doubt as to what the parties intended, and

no reasonable doubt of the specific thing equity is to compel to be done ... in determining whether a contract is too uncertain to be specifically enforced, the test is whether the parties understood by the terms used what was intended in the agreement, and whether their minds met with respect thereto.

610 P.2d at 1377.

Clearly Appellant cannot show more than the general location of the two acres to be sold, that is, that the property to be sold would be in the northwest portion of the seven acres of land owned by Ruth. He attempts to argue that an exact description is unnecessary because all that was necessary is that the general location of the property to be sold be understood.

Appellant supports his position by referring the Court to various cases where the property to be sold was referred to in general terms rather than described by metes and bounds. However, each of the cases cited by Appellant deal with contracts in writing, whereas here the contract is oral and consequently requires a greater burden.

This Court early on decided that: "Where a party seeks specific performance of a parol contract in equity, he must establish the terms thereof with a greater degree of certainty than would be required to establish the same contract in action at law." Montgomery v. Berrett, 121 P. 569 (Utah, 1912).

In Montgomery, Id., the Court further stated that: "Equity requires as a condition of specific performance a clear

mutual understanding and a positive assent of both sides as to the terms of the contract." 121 P. at 570.

This doctrine has been a consistent part of our law, as was generally reiterated in Ryan v. Earl, 618 P.2d 54 (Utah, 1980), where the Court said: "The evidentiary burden is upon Plaintiff, in seeking specific performance of an oral contract to convey land, to establish the contract by clear, convincing, and definite evidence... . Holmgren Brothers, Inc. v. Ballard, Utah, 534 P.2d 611 (1975)." 618 P.2d at 55.

The Ryan, supra, and Holmgren, supra, theory was recognized in Young v. Moore, supra. In the case before the Court there has been no showing of the contract by clear, convincing and definite evidence.

The cases involving written contract relied on by Appellant in his brief are not applicable to this case notwithstanding the foregoing.

Appellant relies on Staufer v. Call, 589 P.2d 1219 (Utah, 1979), where the written contract referred to the properties in general terms which would allow a party utilizing only the clues contained in the written agreement to go to the ground and accurately locate the parts intended to be sold. It referred, for example, to two houses using the natural boundaries, fenced natural farm ground on the SE (south side from Interstate Freeway) and ground SE of the old highway. Staufer, 589 P.2d at 1220.

The cases are consistent in holding that an exact legal description in a written contract need not be required in order to enforce the contract, provided the property to be sold can otherwise be ascertained.

Thus in Reed v. Alvey, 610 P.2d 1374 (Utah, 1980) the written agreement for the sale of real property described the property in vague and incomplete terms, i.e. "corner of Hillview and Ninth East," the Court indicated that: "the extrinsic evidence presented by the Plaintiff concerning the transaction defines the subject matter in question in sufficient detail to support specific performance." 610 P.2d at 1377.

The Reed Court went on to indicate the type of evidence presented at trial regarding the acquisition by the Defendants and the construction of a fourplex apartment unit on each lot and the selection of each unit as belonging to certain purchasers. The Court then said: "Thus, everyone connected with the deal knew what land was involved and the ambiguous nature of the terms used in the written agreement when viewed in light of the extraneous evidence presented at trial does not render the contract unenforceable or defeat an action for specific performance." 610 P.2d at 1378.

Here there is no extrinsic evidence which sheds any more light on the contract. The Appellant has simply not proven what the agreement was in regard to the property boundaries and thus specific performance is not available to him.

Similarly, Jacobsen v. Cox, 202 P.2d 714 (Utah, 1949), cited by Appellant is not applicable since the contract there was in writing and referred to the land involved in certain, although general, terms. The property was described by use of fences, general names, i.e. "Spring Branch Ditch, Cox Field," etc. The land was not surveyed since all parties knew the exact location of the property involved, had been familiar with and used it for many years, had described it in documents by reference to fences, natural monuments, and size and occupancy.

The Court, citing from American Jurisprudence, said:

A description is sufficient when read in the light of circumstances of possession, ownership, situation of those parties, and their relation to each other and to the property, as they were when the negotiations took place and the writing was made, it identifies the property. A description is sufficient, although vague in respect of the boundaries, if it identifies a specific tract of land when applied to the facts on the surface of the earth, as where a surveyor, with the contract in his hands and with the aid of no other means than those provided, could go to the place stated therein and accurately locate the land.

Jacobsen, supra, 202 P.2d at 721.